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MARCO SASSONE, 

Plaintiff, 

vs. 

DARRELL T. COKER an individual, 
DARRELL R. COKER, an individual, 
RICHARD MORELLO an individual, 
DARRYL MCCULLOUGH an individual, 
AND THE JELLO'S JIGGLIN, LLC d/b/a 
Postal Annex, DOES 1-10, and ROE 
ENTITIES 1-10, inclusive, 

Defendants. 

CASE NO. A-16-742853-C 
DEPT. XXVIII 

AMENDED COMPLAINT 

Exemption from Arbitration 
Damages in Excess of $50,000 

COMES NOW, Plaintiff Marco Sassone ("Sassone") by and through counsel of record, of 

the law firm Gentile Cristalli Miller Armeni Savarese, and hereby complains and alleges against 

Defendants, Darrell T. Coker ("Coker"); Darrell R. Coker ("Coker Jr.").; Richard Morello 

(Morello); Richard McCullough ("McCullough"); And The Jello's Jigglin, LLC, d/b/a Postal 

Annex ("Postal Annex"), Does 1-10, and Roe Entities 1-10, inclusive as follows: 

I. 
THE PARTIES, JURISDICTION, AND VENUE 

1. Plaintiff Sassone is, and at all relevant times hereto was, a resident of Toronto 

Canada. 
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1 2. Upon information and belief, Defendant Darrell T. Coker is, and at all relevan 

2 times hereto was, an individual resident of Clark County, Nevada. 

3 3. Upon information and belief, Defendant Darrell R. Coker is, and at all relevan 

4 times hereto was, an individual resident of Clark County, Nevada. 

5 4. Upon information and belief, Defendant Richard J. Morello is, and at all relevan 

6 times hereto was, an individual resident of Clark County, Nevada. 

7 5. Upon information and belief, Defendant Darryl McCullough is, and at all relevan 

8 times hereto was, an individual resident of Clark County, Nevada. 

9 6. Upon information and belief, Defendant And The Jello's Jigglin, LLC, d/bla/ Post 

10 Annex is, and at all relevant times hereto was, a Nevada Limited Liability Corporation with it 

11 principal place of business located in Clark County, Nevada. 

12 7. Defendants designated herein as Does and Roes entities are individual and leg 

13 entities that are liable to Plaintiff for the claims set forth herein. The transactions and tru 

14 capacities of Does and Roes entities are presently unknown to Plaintiff, and therefore, Plaintiff su 

15 said Defendants by such fictitious names. Plaintiff will amend this Complaint to assert the tru 

16 names and capacities of such Doe and Roe entities when more information has been ascertained. 

17 8. This Court has personal jurisdiction over all Defendants as, at all times relevan 

18 hereto, they are individual residents of Clark County, Nevada, and they did business regularly an 

19 systematically in Clark County, Nevada. Thus, jurisdiction and venue are proper in Clark County 

20 Nevada. 

21 IL 

22 

23 
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28 

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS 

9. Sassone repeats, re-alleges and incorporates the allegations set forth in th 

preceding paragraphs of this Complaint as if fully set forth herein. 

10. Sassone is, and at all relevant times hereto, was an artist and painter who create 

numerous works of visual art ("Works") using a number of mediums including, but not limited to 

watercolor, oil paint, and serigraph. 

Ill 
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11. Sassone has neither produced, nor sold any Works in the lithograph medium. 

12. All Works are wholly original by Plaintiff Sassone and are copyrightable subjec 

matter under the laws of the United States and Nevada common law. 

13. Sassone was also the subject of an artist monograph book entitled Sasson 

("Monograph Book") which was published in 1979, and was published again in 1985 by Donelso 

Hoopes ISBN: 0-935194-00-2. 

14. The Monograph Book included over one hundred photos of Sassone's Works. 

15. The Monograph Book is available to the general public for purchase online throu 

websites including, but not limited to, ebay.com and amazon.com. 

16. Plaintiff Sassone is now, and at all relevant times has been, the sole owner of al 

right, title, and interest in and to the Copyright in his Works. 

17. Plaintiff Sassone has not commissioned, licensed, assigned, or relinquished an 

rights in any of his Works. 

18. Upon information and belief, Coker and Coker Jr. acquired the Monograph Book. 

19. Upon information and belief, beginning no later than 2008, Coker and Coker Jr. 

began intentionally imitating and producing fraudulent lithographs ("Lithographs") from th 

images in the Monograph Book without permission or license from Plaintiff Sassone. 

20. Exhibit A contains a list that includes, but is not limited to, the titles of th 

infringed Works of Sassone. 

21. Upon information and belief, Coker and Coker Jr. imposed a forged signature o 

Sassone on the fraudulent Lithograph productions. 

22. Upon information and belief, Coker and Coker Jr. conspired and caused to b 

formed numerous limited liability corporations as auction businesses that allegedly operate 

throughout the United States. 

23. Upon information and belief, Coker and Coker. Jr. caused to be formed auctio 

businesses in, including but not limited to, Utah, Colorado, and Oklahoma. 

Ill 

Ill 
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24. Upon information and belief, Coker and Coker Jr. conspired and worked in conce 

with Morello, and others, to create websites for said auction businesses. A list of websites an 

related businesses can be found in Exhibit B. 

25. Upon information and belief, Morello established the websites for these businesse 

and small art galleries that were subsequently used as auctioneers to participate in online auctio 

sales at major auction webhosts such as: iCollector.com, Liveauctioneers.com, Auctionzip.com 

and Invaluable.com. See Exhibit C. 

26. Upon information and belief, Coker and Coker Jr. offered for auction the fak 

Lithograph productions and advertised them as "Original Signed Lithograph by Artist Marc 

Sassone" or "Lithograph After Marc Sassone." 

27. Upon information and belief, Coker and Coker Jr. sold numerous fake Lithograph 

at auctions for various prices starting at $100 and above. The prices of sale ranged from $100 

$650. 

28. Upon information and belief, Coker and Coker Jr. advertised that the sh 

Lithographs would be sold with a certificate of authenticity. 

29. Upon information and belief, Coker and Coker Jr. provided a fraudulent, 

meaningless, self-produced certificate of authenticity with each sold bogus Lithograph. 

30. Upon information and belief, Coker and Coker Jr. worked in concert wi 

McCullough to distribute the infringing sham Lithographs through Postal Annex, a compan 

located in Las Vegas, Nevada. 

31. Upon information and belief, McCullough caused the infringing Lithographs to b 

shipped to respective buyers from Postal Annex. 

32. Upon information and belief, on or about November 25, 2014, Sarah Burton visite 

the website iCollector.com where Art and Jewelry Auction House, located in Las Vegas, Nevad 

and controlled by Darrell T. Coker, listed an "Original Signed Lithograph by Artist Marc 

Sassone" for auction. Sarah Burton placed a bid, and the Lithograph was sold to Sarah Burton for 

bid price of$199.12. The Lithograph was subsequently shipped by Postal Annex. 
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1 33. Upon information and belief, on or about December 10, 2014, Diane Menninge 

2 visited the website iCollector.com where Art and Jewelry Auctions House, located in Las Vegas, 

3 Nevada and controlled by Darrell T. Coker, listed an "Original Signed Lithograph by Artist Marco 

4 Sassone" for auction. Diane Menninger placed a bid, and the Lithograph was sold to her for a bi 

5 price of $227.50. The Lithograph was subsequently shipped by Postal Annex. The tracking numbe 

6 from Postal Annex was sent to Diane Menninger by McCullough. 

7 34. Upon information and belief, on or about December 22, 2014, Collin Clark visite 

8 the website iCollector.com where Whole Sale Art Auctions, located in Salt Lake City, Utah, liste 

9 an "Original Signed Lithograph By Artist Marco Sassone" for auction. Collin Clark placed a bid 

10 and the Lithograph was sold to him for a bid price of $229.25. The Lithograph was subsequent! 

11 shipped by Postal Annex. 

12 35. Upon information and believe, on or about January 20, 2015, Jelena Popovic visite 

13 the website Live Auctioneers where Wilson Fine Art and Antique listed a "Lithograph after Marc 

14 Sassone" for sale at auction. Jelena Popovic placed a bid, and the Lithograph was sold to her for 

15 bid price of $275.00. The Lithograph was subsequently shipped by Postal Annex. 

16 36. Upon information and belief, Defendants, each of them, have been, withou 

1 7 limitation, producing, distributing, marketing, promoting, advertising, demonstrating, offering f o 

18 sale, and in fact selling, unauthorized and illegal copies of Sassone's Works. The illegal productio 

19 and distribution of the Works includes, but is not limited to, the acts hereinabove alleged. 

20 3 7. Sassone did not become aware of Defendants' illegal and unauthorized copying, 

21 forging, and selling of his Works until October 2014 when he discovered the auctions on th 

22 Internet. 

23 38. Sassone purposefully restricted the availability of his Works to maintain a limited 

24 exclusive collection of artist originals, and originally signed derivative Works available to th 

25 public. 

26 39. Sassone produced Serigraphs in limited productions, roughly one hundred (100) t 

27 one hundred fifty (150) works, which significantly differ from the Lithographs produced by Coke 

28 and Coker Jr. 
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1 40. Defendants' acts of copying, imitating, fraudulently producing, forging, and sell in 

2 the Works of Sassone have and will continue to increase the presumed availability of Sassone' 

3 Works, thereby significantly diluting the market value of his Works. 

4 41. The mass production and sale of Sassone's fraudulent and fake Works sold at lo 

5 prices has, and will continue to have, an adverse economic impact on Sassone. 

6 42. Sassone has incurred, and will continue to incur, significant lost revenues as long 

7 the infringing acts of Defendants continues. 

8 43. Defendants profited significantly, and will continue to profit significantly, from th 

9 mass production and sale of Sassone's fraudulent Works. 

10 44. Sassone has been harmed in both reputation and income as a result of the actions o 

11 Defendants. There is no adequate remedy at law to completely abate the harm incurred by Sassone. 

12 The harm to Sassone and his reputation is irreparable and will continue unless Defendants ar 

13 enjoined from their intentional egregious acts. 
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45. 

CLAIMS FOR RELIEF 

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
(Deceptive Trade Practice) 

Sassone repeats, re-alleges and incorporates the allegations set forth in th 

preceding paragraphs of this Complaint as if fully set forth herein. 

46. Defendants Coker and Coker Jr. knowingly forged Sassone's name on to th 

infringed fraudulent Lithograph productions to pass off the goods as those of Sassone in violatio 

ofNRS 598.0915. 

47. Defendants Coker and Coker Jr. knowingly made false representations as to th 

source of the bogus Lithographs when they advertised the Works as "Original Signed Lithograp 

by Artist Marco Sassone" and/or "Lithograph After Marco Sassone" in violation ofNRS 598.0915. 

48. Defendants Coker and Coker Jr. knowingly made false representations as to th 

certification of goods when they sold the sham Lithographs with self-produced, fraudulen 

certificates of authenticity in violation of NRS 598.0915. 
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1 49. Defendants Coker and Coker Jr. knowingly made false representations as to th 

2 affiliation, sponsorship, connection, and approval of Sassone when they sold the fake 

3 unauthorized Lithographs of Sassone's Work in violation ofNRS 598.0915. 

4 50. Defendants Coker and Coker Jr. knowingly made false and misleadin 

5 representations of fact that disparaged, damages, and irreversibly harmed the reputation an 

6 business of Sassone in violation ofNRS 598.0915. 

7 51. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants' actions, Sassone is entitled t 

8 restitution in an amount to be proven at trial in excess of $10,000 plus prejudgment interest. 
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52. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants' actions, Sassone has been require 

to retain the services of an attorney to prosecute this claim and is entitled to be compensated fo 

any costs incurred in the prosecution of this action, including without limitation, any and all cost 

and attorney's fees. 

53. 

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
(Violation of the Right of Publicity) 

Sassone repeats, re-alleges, and incorporates the allegations set forth in th 

preceding paragraphs of this Complaint as if fully set forth herein. 

54. Sassone has the right of publicity in the use of his name and signature per Nevad 

Trade Regulation Right of Publicity NRS 597.790. 

55. Defendants Coker and Coker Jr. knowingly used the name and signature of Sasson 

by placing it upon or indicating the source of the infringing Lithograph works they created withou 

consent, written or otherwise, from Sassone in violation ofNRS 597.790. 

56. By doing so, Defendants Coker and Coker Jr. infringed Sassone's right of publicit 

in violation ofNRS 597.790. 

57. As the direct and proximate result of Defendants' violations of Sassone's right o 

publicity, Sassone has suffered, and will continue to suffer, monetary damages and irreparabl 

injury to his reputation and goodwill. 

Ill 

Ill 
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1 58. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants' actions, Sassone is entitled to actua 

2 damages and punitive damages in an amount to be proven at trial in excess of $10,000 plu 

3 prejudgment interest. 

4 59. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants' actions, Sassone has been require 

5 to retain the services of an attorney to prosecute this claim and is entitled to be compensated fo 

6 any costs incurred in the prosecution of this action, including without limitation, any and all cost 

7 and attorney's fees. 

8 THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
(Violation of Nevada RICO,§ 207.400(l)(c)(l) and/or (2)) 
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60. Sassone repeats, re-alleges and incorporates the allegations set forth in th 

preceding paragraphs of this Complaint as if fully set forth herein. 

61. Defendants were associated in fact with one another and therefore were 

"enterprise" as that term is defined in NRS 207.400. 

62. Through their association with the enterprise the defendants, and each of them 

conducted or participated in racketeering activity, as defined in NRS 207.390, in that they engage 

and continue to engage in at least two crimes related to racketeering that have the same or simil 

pattern, intents, results, accomplices, victims or methods of commission, or are otherwis 

interrelated by distinguishing characteristics and are not isolated incidents, through the affairs o 

the enterprise, or, in the alternative, conducted the affairs of the enterprise through racketeerin 

activity, by: 

63. 

a. creating fake Lithographs of Sassone's Works; 

b. creating various websites and auction houses, advertising the Lithographs 

Sassone's original Lithograph Works through the auction houses; 

c. forging Sassone's signature on the Lithographs; 

d. selling the sham Lithographs to customers online through their various auctio 

houses. 

By the actions described above herein, the Defendants have committed th 

following crimes related to racketeering: 
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6 64. 

a. engaging in multiple transactions involving fraud or deceit in the course of 

enterprise or occupation in violation ofNRS § 205.377; 

b. forgery in violation ofNRS § 205.090; and 

c. obtaining possession of money or property valued at $650 or more by fals 

pretenses in violation ofNRS § 205.380. 

As a result of the foregoing allegations, Defendants have violated NRS 207.400 

7 l(c)(l) and/or (2). 

8 65. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants' pattern of racketeering activitie 

9 and participation in the conduct of the enterprise, Sassone has been injured in his business o 

1 O property and is entitled to treble damages in an amount to be proven at trial in excess of $10,000 

11 plus prejudgment interest pursuant to NRS § 207.470. 
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66. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants' actions, Sassone has been require 

to retain the services of an attorney to prosecute this claim and, pursuant to NRS § 207.470, i 

entitled to be compensated for any costs incurred in the prosecution of this action, includin 

without limitation, any and all costs and attorney's fees 

67. 

FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
(Violation of Nevada RICO,§ 207.400(1)(j) 

Sassone repeats, re-alleges and incorporates the allegations set forth in th 

preceding paragraphs of this Complaint as if fully set forth herein. 

68. Defendants, and each of them, did conspire, confederate and agree with one anothe 

to conduct and participate in the operation of the aforementioned enterprise through racketeerin 

activity, or in the alternative, to engage in racketeering activity through the affairs of th 

enterprise, by the acts set out hereinabove by creating fake Lithographs of Sassone's Works 

creating various websites and auction houses, advertising the Lithographs as Sassone's origina 

Lithograph Works through the auction houses, forging Sassone's signature on the Lithographs 

and/or selling the fake Lithographs to customers online through their various auction houses. 

69. As a result thereof, the Defendants have committed and conspired to commit th 

following crimes related to racketeering: (1) engaging in multiple transactions involving fraud o 
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1 deceit in the course of an enterprise or occupation in violation of NRS § 205.377; (2) forgery i 

2 violation ofNRS § 205.090; and (3) obtaining possession of money or property valued at $650 o 

3 more by means of false pretenses in violation ofNRS § 205.380. 

4 70. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants' conspiring, confederating an 

5 agreeing as aforesaid, Sassone has been injured in his business and/or property and is entitled t 

6 trebled damages in an amount to be proven at trial in excess of $10,000, plus prejudgment interest. 

7 71. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants' actions, Sassone has been require 

8 to retain the services of an attorney to prosecute this claim and, pursuant to NRS § 207.470, i 

9 entitled to be compensated for any costs incurred in the prosecution of this action, includin 

10 without limitation, any and all costs and attorney's fees. 

11 FIFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
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(Violation of Works of Art) 

72. Sassone repeats, re-alleges and incorporates the allegations set forth in th 

preceding paragraphs of this Complaint as if fully set forth herein. 

73. Defendants Coker and Coker Jr., by virtue of their online auctions, infringed th 

Works of Sassone by creating, publishing, displaying and offering for sale fake, unauthorize 

Lithograph works in the State of Nevada and worldwide. 

74. Defendants' actions of creating infringing fraudulent Lithographs of Sassone' 

Works defaced and altered Sassone's Works while representing them as works of Sassone. 

75. Sassone never consented to Defendants' publishing or displaying Lithographs in th 

State of Nevada or worldwide for that matter, and thus Defendants violated NRS § 597.740. 

76. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants' actions, Sassone is entitled t 

damages in an amount to be proven at trial in excess of $10,000 plus prejudgment interest. 

77. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants' actions, Sassone has been require 

to retain the services of an attorney to prosecute this claim and is entitled to be compensated fo 

any costs incurred in the prosecution of this action, including without limitation, any and all cost 

and attorney's fees pursuant to NRS § 597.740(2). 

Ill 
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1 PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

2 WHEREFORE, based upon the foregoing, Plaintiff respectfully requests judgment be 

3 entered in its favor and against each of the Defendants as follows: 

4 1. For actual and compensatory damages in excess of $10,000, together with interest, 

5 penalties, costs, and treble damages pursuant to Nevada RICO and statutes mentioned herein; 

6 

7 

2. 

3. 

For attorneys' fees and costs of suit; 

For an award of exemplary and punitive damages against the Defendants, jointly 

8 and severally, in an amount in excess of $10,000, with a specific amount to be proven at the time 

9 of trial; and 

10 4. Preliminarily and permanently enjoin Defendants, and each of them, the 

11 Defendants' servants, employees, attorneys, agents, representatives, and distributors, and all other 

12 persons acting in concert or privity or in participation with the Defendants, from: 

13 a. Directly or indirectly infringing the Works of Sassone by copying the Works; 

14 b. Falsifying Sassone's signature in the creation of unauthorized derivative 

15 works; 

16 c. Distributing, selling, licensing, leasing, or transferring the non-licensed 

17 

18 

19 

20 5. 

materials; and, 

d. Engaging, participating or assisting in any further conduct that infringes on the 

Works; 

Order the Defendants to destroy and dispose of all of the Defendants' materials 

21 bearing in any manner upon the works and/or any similar variation thereof, and file with this 

22 Court and serve upon Sassone, within 30 days after being served with this Court's injunction(s) 

23 and/or order(s) granting such relief, a written report signed by the Defendants under oath, setting 

24 forth in detail the manner in which the Defendants complied with the Court's injunction(s) and/or 

25 order(s); 

26 Ill 

27 Ill 

28 I I I 
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6. For such other and further relief this Court deems appropriate in the circumstances. 

Dated this 7 day of October, 2016. 

DOMIN TILE 
Nevada No. 1923 
410 S. Rampart Blvd., Suite 420 
Las Vegas, NV 89145 
Telephone (702) 880-0000 
Facsimile: (702) 778-9709 
Attorneys for Plaintiff Marco Sassone 
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1 DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

2 Plaintiff Sassone hereby demand that this matter be tried by a jury, pursuant to the Seventh 

3 Amendment of the Constitution of the United States, as for all triable claims. 

4 Dated this 3 day of October, 2016. 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 
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DOMINIC . GENTILE 
Nevada Bar No. 1923 
410 S. Rampart Blvd., Suite 420 
Las Vegas, NV 89145 
Telephone (702) 880-0000 
Facsimile: (702) 778-9709 
Attorneys for Plaintiff Marco Sassone 
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1 EXHIBIT A 
LIST OF INFRINGED WORKS OF ARTIST SASSONE 

2 
Title Description ( original) Book page# 

3 Aftermath, 1968 Oil on Canvas, 71" x 71" 159 
Alamitos Bay Marina, 1970 Oil on Canvas, 50" x 50" 181 

4 Amalfi, 1972 Oil on Canvas, 50" x 54" 84 
Barca Rossa, 1978 Oil on Canvas 1 O" x 14" 279 ' 5 Belmont Shore, 1970 Drawing, 12" x 11" 20 
Blue Bird Canyon, 1973 Oil on Canvas 48" x 34" 199 ' 6 Bluebird Canyon, 1976 Oil on Canvas 19" x 23" 209 ' Bluebird Canyon from 

7 Summit Street, 1978 Oil on Canvas, 30" x 26" 197 
Boats at Dusk, 1969 Oil on Canvas, 40" x 54" 179 

8 Canal Grande, 1978 Oil on Canvas, 32" x 30" 113 
Canal Riflessi, 1978 Oil on Canvas, 42" x 32" 141 

9 Canale con Barche, 1978 Oil on Canvas, 34" x 26" 128 
Canale d'Invemo, 1978 Oil on Canvas, 42' x 32" 103 

10 Catalina Island Marina, 197 6 Oil on Canvas, 20" x 22" 167 
Casamenti Sul Mola, 1979 Oil on Canvas 36" x 32" ' 18 

11 Case Veneziane, 1978 Oil on Canvas 38" x 38" ' 139 
Chiesa della Salute, 1978 Oil on Canvas, 36" x 54" 143 

12 Colori sulla Baia, 1977 Oil on Canvas 26" x 36" ' 265 
Colors of Junk, 1975 Oil on Canvas, 35" x 56" 243 

13 Cranes, 197 5 Drawing, 9" x 14" 240 
Darsena, 1979 Oil on Canvas, 40" x 56" 46 

14 Delage, 197 5 Oil on Canvas, 40" x 35" 54 
Deposito Rottami, 1979 Watercolor 9" x 13" 244 ' 15 Diane, 1972 Watercolor 28" x 20" 187 ' Eleonor's Sun Room, 1974 Oil on Canvas 40" x 32" 219 ' 16 Emerald Bay, 1976 Drawing, 9" x 14" 220 
Fermata Rialto, 1978 Oil on Canvas 32" x 30" 115 ' 17 Firenze, 1968 Watercolor 20" x 28" 155 ' Firenze Rosa, 1979 Oil on Canvas 40" x 36" 151 ' 18 Fish Cleaned 1971 Watercolor 28" x 20" ' 165 
Fisherman's Wharf, Evening, 1978 Oil on Canvas, 36" x 55" 169 

19 Fishing Boats, 1978 Oil on Canvas 10" x 12" 163 ' Flower Pots, 1978 Oil on Canvas 20" x 22" 203 ' 20 Gondole a San Marco, 1978 Oil on Canvas, 40" x 54" 105 
Grand Canal, 1974 Oil on Canvas, 32" x 34" 135 

21 Grand Canal, 1978 Oil on Canvas 14" x 16" 99 ' Huntington Harbour, 1972 Oil on Canvas, 42" x 52" 160 
22 Jack in the Box, 1973 Oil on Canvas, 30" x 32" 173 

Japanese Garden, 197 6 Drawing, 9" x 14" 236 
23 Japanese Garden, 197 6 Oil on Canvas, 24" x 20" 237 

Jill, 1969 Oil on Canvas 30" x 22" 176 ' 24 Junk Island, 1979 Oil on Canvas, 50" x 72" 261 
Junk Yard, 1975 Oil on Canvas 62" x 50" 241 ' 25 Laguna, 1977 Original Serigraph, 38" x 32" 191 
Laguna with Moon, 1976 Oil on Canvas 26" x 20" 211 ' 26 Laguna Patio, 1975 Oil on Canvas, 33" x 30" 201 
Laguna Terrace, 197 5 Original Serigraph, 24" x 18" 227 

27 Laguna Summer, 1978 Oil on Canvas, 32" x 30" 51 
Landscape, 1977 Oil on Canvas, 38" x 55" 205 

28 Mail Boxes, 1977 Oil on Canvas, 45" x 52" 257 
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Main Beach, 197 4 
Mar Vista Terrace, 1979 
Marina, 1976 
Marina at Belmont, 1969 
Marina Riflessi, 1978 
Moss Point, 1974 
Moss Point Eucalyptus, 1979 
Near Rialto, 1978 
North Laguna, 1978 
Old Refinery, 1975 
Old Truck, 1972 
Patio, 1972 
Piazza Poggi, 1979 
Piazza San Marco, 1976 
Piazzetta, 197 6 
Ponte <lei Sospiri, 1978 
Ponte di Rialto, 1979 
Ponte Rosso, 1978 
Porto Erocle, 1978 
Porto Santo Stefano, 1978 

Oil on Canvas, 40" x 32" 
Oil on Canvas, 4 7" x 50" 
Oil on Canvas 30" x 30" ' Oil on Canvas, 22" x 30" 
Oil on Canvas, 44" x 42" 
Oil on Canvas 38" x 30" ' Original Serigraph, 38" x 30" 
Oil on Canvas 34" x 26" ' Oil on Canvas, 26" x 36" 
Oil on Canvas, 40" x 33" 
Oil on Canvas 54" x 40" ' Watercolor, 20" x 20" 
Oil on Canvas, 9" x 13" 
Drawing, 11 " x 14" 
Drawing, 11" x 14" 
Oil on Canvas, 16" x 14" 
Oil on Canvas, 52" x 64" 
Oil on Canvas, 54" x 40" 
Watercolor, 9" x 13" 
Oil on Canvas 14" x 18" ' Porto Santo Stefano, 1979 Oil on Canvas, 26" x 36" 

Porto Santo Stefano Tramanto, 1978 Oil on Canvas, 34" x 54" 
Ragazze alla Spiaggia, 1968 Oi on Canvas, 40" x 30" 
Rialto Bridge -Dusk, 1979 Oil on Canvas, 52" x 64" 
Rio Belvedere, 1979 Oil on Canvas, 36" x 26" 
Rio delle Prigioni, 1979 Oil on Canvas, 56" x 40" 
Rio de la Verona, 1979 Oil on Canvas, 56" x 40" 
Roof Tops, 1971 Oil on Canvas, 14" x 20" 
Sails at Belmont, 1967 Oil on Wood, 13" x 15" 
San Francisco Wharf, 1973 Oil on Canvas, 48" x 54" 
San Pedro Refinery, 1975 Oil on Canvas, 45" x 33" 
Santa Cruz Bay, 1976 Oil on Canvas, 44" x 52" 
Santa Cruz Harbor, 1977 Oil on Canvas, 38" x 54" 
Santa Cruz Harbor, 1978 Oil on Canvas, 36" x 55" 
Santa Cruz Marina, 1978 Oil on Canvas, 36" x 54" 
Santa Cruz Waterfront, 1976 Oil on Canvas, 44" x 72" 
Sausalito, 1978 Original Serigraph, 26" x 36" 
Sausalito Bay, 1975 Oil on Canvas, 40" x 56" 
Sausalito Bay, 1975 Oil on Canvas, 60" x 52" 
Sausalito Reflections, 1975 Original Serigraph 24" x 17" 
Souvenirs, 1979 Drawing, 13" x 19" 
Springtime Colors, 1977 Oil on Canvas, 40" x 32" 
Springtime in Diablo, 1976 Oil on Canvas, 44" x 36" 
Studio, 1975 Oil on Canvas, 41" x 31" 
Studio, 1979 Drawing, 9" x 13" 
Studio Vista, 1977 Original Serigraph, 26" x 32" 
Studio Vista - Dusk, 1977 Oil on Canvas, 26" x 30" 
The Captains House, 1972 Oil on Canvas, 45" x 34" 
The Flood of Florence, 1976 Original Serigraph, 14" x 9" 
Tree on the Bay, 1971 Watercolor, 20" x 28" 
Trees in Diablo, 1977 Oil on Canvas, 47" x 38" 
Three-Seven-Four, 1979 Oil on Canvas, 64" x 90" 
Tug Boat Reflections, 1975 Oil on Canvas, 27" x 20" 
Tyrrhenian Sea, 1979 Oil on Canvas. 32" x 40" 
Venetian Palaces, 1978 Drawing, 9" x 13" 
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215 
229 
255 
177 
285 
217 
221 
129 
193 
249 
223 
185 
149 
92 
114 
123 
117 
121 
26 
89 
95 
91 
189 
119 
111 
125 
127 
147 
175 
42 
245 
287 
275 
273 
271 
269 
263 
262 
253 
267 
58 
62 
171 
231 
196 
225 
224 
195 
153 
183 
66 
259 
251 
87 
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Venetian Palaces. 1978 
Venetian Tenements, 1978 
Venetian Windows, 1974 
Venezia, 1974 
Venezia II, 1974 
Vermouth Bottles, 1979 
View of Avalon, 1976 
View from Cliff Drive, 1975 
Views from Piazzale, 1976 
View of San Gorgio, 1979 
View from Temple Hills, 1979 
View from the Victor Hugo, 1979 
Wearhouse, 1975 
Winter Canal, 1978 
Yacht Harbor, 1976 

Oil on Canvas 14" x 18" ' Oil on Canvas 42" x 32" ' Oil on Canvas, 46" x 50" 
Oil on Canvas 38" x 30" , 
Oil on Canvas, 3 8" x 30" 
Colored Pentels, 11" x 14" 
Oil on Canvas 40" x 32" , 
Oil on Canvas, 22" x 30' 
Drawing, 11" x 14" 
Oil on Canvas 36" x 26" ' Oil on Canvas 36" x 26" ' Original Serigraph, 18" x 14" 
Oil on Canvas, 36" x 32" 
Oil on Canvas 42" x 32" ' Oil on Canvas, 20" x 20" 
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97 
207 
213 
247 
107 
277 

App. 036



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

EXHIBITB 
LIST OF WEBSITES AND AUCTION BUSINESSES 

USED TO SELL SASSONE INFRINGED WORKS 

Domain Name Registered Agent Business Name 

bestauctionf oryou.com Rich Morello Best Auction for You Inc 

pinevalleyauctions.com Rich Morello Pine Valley Auctions.com LLC 

pinevalleyauctions.com Rich Morello Pine Valley Auctions.com LLC 

topauctionitems.com Rich Morello 

wholesaleartauctions.com Rich Morello Wholesale Art Auctions 

fineartonlineauctions.com Rich Morello Fine Art Auctions LLC 

buyartauction.com Rich Morello Buy Art Auctions Inc 

universallive.com Martin Shape 

wilsonfineartandantiques.com William Rhodes Wilson Fine Art & Antiques 

wilsonantiquesandart.com Wilson Fine Art & Antiques 

colonelsauctionhouse.com Art & Jewelry Auction House dba 
Colonel's Auction House 

17 of 18 

App. 037



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

EXHIBITC 
LIST OF MAJOR AUCTION WEBHOSTS 

FOR SALES OF INFRINGED WORKS 

1. AAC HOLDINGS LTD d/b/a !COLLECTOR.COM - a Canadian Corporation wit 

its principal place of business in British Columbia, Canada. 

2. !COLLECTOR.COM TECHNOLOGIES LTD - a Canadian limited liabili 

company with its principal place of business in British Columbia, Canada. 

3. LIVE AUCTIONEERS LLC d/b/a liveauctioneers.com - a New York limite 

liability company with its principal place of business in New York, New York. 

4. AUCTION ZIP d/b/a auctionzip.com - a Pennsylvania corporation with its principa 

place of business in Bedford, Pennsylvania. 

5. INVALUABLE LLC d/b/a invaluable.com - a Massachusetts limited liabilit 

company with its principal place of business in Boston, Massachusetts. 
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Marc J. Randazza (NV Bar No. 12265) 
Ronald D. Green (NV Bar No. 7360) 
Alex J. Shepard (NV Bar No. 13582) 
RANDAZZA LEGAL GROUP, PLLC 
4035 S. El Capitan Way 
Las Vegas, NV 89147 
Telephone: 702-420-2001 
Facsimile: 305-437-7662 
ecf@randazza.com 
 
Attorneys for Defendant, 
Darrell T. Coker 
 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
 

DISTRICT OF NEVADA 
 

 
MARCO SASSONE, 
 

Plaintiff, 
 

vs. 
 
DARRELL T. COKER, an individual; 
DARRELL R. COKER, an individual; 
RICHARD MORELLO, an individual; 
DARRYL MCCULLOUGH, an individual; 
AND THE JELLO’S JIGGLIN, LLC d/b/a 
Postal Annex; DOES 1-10; and  
ROE ENTITIES 1-10, inclusive, 
 

Defendants. 

 
 

Case No.: ______________________ 
 
NOTICE OF REMOVAL TO  
FEDERAL COURT 

TO: THE CLERK OF THE U.S. DISTRICT COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEVADA 

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE THAT Defendant Darrell T. Coker (“Coker”) hereby 

removes to this Court the state court action described below.  Defendant gives 

notice that this action is removed to the United States District Court for the 

District of Nevada from the Eighth Judicial District Court for Clark County, 

Nevada.  The bases for removal are federal-question jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. 

§ 1331, and copyright and unfair competition jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1338.   
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BACKGROUND 

1. Plaintiff Marco Sassone filed this action on September 2, 2016 in the 

Eighth Judicial District Court for Clark County, Nevada, Case No. A-16-742853-C 

(the “State Court Action”).  A true and correct copy of the operative Amended 

Complaint is attached hereto as Exhibit A.   

2. Despite attempts to plead around it, this is a copyright infringement 

case.  Since copyright infringement is exclusively a federal issue, this case must 

be brought in federal court.   

STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS 

Removal is Proper Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1454 and 1441 

3. Federal-question jurisdiction covers state-law claims that implicate 

significant federal issues.  See Grable & Sons Metal Prods. v. Darue Eng’g & Mfg., 

545 U.S. 308, 312 (2005). Federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction over copyright 

claims. 28 U.S.C. § 1338 (“No [s]tate court shall have jurisdiction over any claims 

for relief arising under any [a]ct of Congress relating to patents, plant variety 

protection, or copyrights.”).   

4. “[A] plaintiff may not defeat removal by omitting to plead 

necessary federal questions.  If a court concludes that a plaintiff has artfully 

pleaded claims in this fashion, it may uphold removal even though no federal 

question appears on the face of the plaintiff's complaint.”  Rivet v. Regions Bank 

of Louisiana, 522 U.S. 470, 475 (1998) (citations and internal quotation marks 

omitted); see also Ayres v. Gen. Motors Corp., 234 F.3d 514, 519 n.7 (11th Cir. 

2000) (“Removal will be held proper when the plaintiff has concealed a 

legitimate ground of removal by . . . artful pleading.”).  In assessing federal 

jurisdiction, courts look to the substance of the complaint, not the labels used in 

it.  See Sparta Surgical Corp. v. NASD, 159 F.3d 1209, 1212 (9th Cir. 1998) (“In 

addition to examining the literal language selected by the plaintiff, the district 
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court must analyze whether federal jurisdiction would exist under a properly 

pleaded complaint.”); see also ARCO Envtl. Remediation, L.L.C. v. Dep’t of 

Health & Envtl. Quality, 213 F.3d 1108, 1114 (9th Cir. 2000) (“[U]nder the artful 

pleading rule ‘a plaintiff may not defeat removal by omitting to plead 

necessary federal questions in a complaint.’”) (quoting Franchise Tax Bd. of Cal. 

v. Constr. Laborers Vacation Trust for S. Cal., 463 U.S. 1, 22 (1983)).   

5. This Court has original jurisdiction over “any civil action arising under 

any Act of Congress relating to ... copyrights ...”  28 U.S.C. §1338(a).  This Court 

also has supplemental jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1367(a) over the other state 

claims, because the claims are so related to the federal claims within this Court’s 

original jurisdiction that they form part of the same case or controversy under 

Article III of the United States Constitution.”  

6. The state court is not legally competent to hear this case, as 

copyright claims are exclusively federal in nature.  There must be uniform 

enforcement of copyright law, nationwide, without state or local particularities 

coming into play.  Mitchell Bros. Film Group v. Cinema Adult Theater, 604 F.2d 

852, 858 (5th Cir. 1979) (recognizing “uniform national standards of the copyright 

system”); Jartech, Inc. v. Clancy, 666 F.2d 403, 406 (9th Cir. 1982) (adopting 

Mitchell Bros. reasoning). 

7. The complaint both explicitly and implicitly pleads federal claims.  

See Amended Complaint at ¶ 12 (“All Works are wholly original by Plaintiff 

Sassone and are copyrightable subject matter under the laws of the United 

States and Nevada common law.”) and ¶ 16 (“Plaintiff Sassone is now, and at all 

relevant times has been, the sole owner of all right, title, and interest in and to 

the Copyright in his Works.”)  However, the Copyright Act preempts state law 

claims that that vindicate “legal or equitable rights that are equivalent to any of 

the exclusive rights within the general scope of copyright,” in works “that are 
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fixed in a tangible medium of expression and come within the subject matter of 

copyright.”  See 17 U.S.C. § 301; see also Liberty Media Holdings, LLC v. Tabora, 

2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 9475; Voltage Pictures, LLC v. Doe, 2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 84794; 

and see AF Holdings LLC v. Rogers, 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 11929 (S.D. Cal. Jan. 29, 

2013).  “[T]he shadow actually cast by the Act’s preemption is notably broader 

than the wing of its protection.”  U.S. ex rel Berge v. Bd. Of Trustees of Univ. of 

Ala., 104 F.3d 1453, 1463 (4th Cir. 1997).  See also Ehat v. Tanner, 780 F.2d 876, 

878 (10th Cir. 1985) (same).   

8. The Plaintiff additionally makes claims that are duplicative of the 

remedies under 17 U.S.C. § 106A, which is specifically preempted by 17 U.S.C. 

§ 301(f).  See Amended Complaint at ¶¶ 39, 45-52, 53-59, & 72-77.   

9. Claims pled under state law, but which are preempted by the 

Copyright Act, arise under the Copyright Act, and that removal of such claims 

to federal court is therefore not only appropriate, but mandatory, as federal 

courts have exclusive jurisdiction over copyright claims.  See, e.g., Laws v. Sony 

Music Entm't, Inc., 448 F.3d 1134, 1146 (9th Cir. 2006) (upholding complete 

preemption of state right of publicity claim under the Copyright Act); NTD 

Architects v. Baker, 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 89160, 16-17 (S.D. Cal. June 27, 2012; 

Bierman v. Toshiba America Info. Sys. Inc., 473 Fed. Appx. 756, 758 (9th Cir. 2012) 

(unpublished concurrence); Rosciszewski v. Williams, 395 F.3d 283, 286-87 (6th Cir. 

2005); Briarpatch Ltd., L.P. v Pheonix Pictures, Inc., 373 F.3d 296, 305 (2d Cir. 

2004); Ritchie v. Williams, 395 F.3d 283, 286-87 (6th Cir. 2005).   

10. As Congress made clear when passing the 1976 Copyright Act, 

“section 301 is intended to be stated in the clearest and most unequivocal 

language possible, so as to foreclose any conceivable misinterpretation of its 

unqualified intention that Congress shall act preemptively, and to avoid the 

development of any vague borderline areas between State and Federal 
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protection.”  H.R.Rep. No. 1476, 94th Cong., 2d Sess. 130 (1976), reprinted in 1976 

U.S.C.C.A.N. 5659, 5746” 

11. The only true issue in this case is the use of copyrightable works, and 

the only kind of rights being asserted are exclusive Copyright rights, namely the 

rights to copy and distribute content, so the state claims are preempted by and 

arise under the Copyright Act (see 17 U.S.C. § 301), such that removal is 

appropriate here, based on the authorities noted above.    

PROCEDURAL REQUIREMENTS 

12. Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1446(a), this Notice of Removal is signed 

subject to Rule 11.   

13. Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1446(a), Defendant files this notice of 

removal in the United States District Court for the District of Nevada, which is the 

federal district court embracing the Eighth Judicial District Court for Clark 

County, Nevada where Sassone brought the State Court Action.   

14. Defendant Coker has not yet been served with the complaint.  See 

Declaration of Darrell T. Coker, attached hereto as Exhibit B, at ¶ 3.  Defendant 

Coker was only made aware of the complaint on or after December 6, 2016.  Id. 

at ¶ 4.  Removal is therefore timely.  See 28 U.S.C. § 1446(b)(2)(3).   

15. However, given that copyright claims are exclusively federal, even if 

it was untimely, removal would be not only proper, but mandatory.   

16. Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1446(d), Defendant will promptly serve on 

Plaintiff and file with this Court a Notice to Plaintiffs of Removal to Federal Court, 

informing Plaintiff that this matter has been removed to federal court.   

. . . 

. . . 

. . . 

. . . 
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CONCLUSION 

WHEREFORE, this action should proceed in the United States District Court 

for the District of Nevada, as an action properly removed thereto.   

 

Dated: December 30, 2016.  Respectfully submitted, 
 

/s/ Marc J. Randazza 
Marc J. Randazza (NV Bar No. 12265) 
Ronald D. Green (NV Bar No. 7360) 
Alex J. Shepard (NV Bar No. 13582) 
RANDAZZA LEGAL GROUP, PLLC 
4035 S. El Capitan Way 
Las Vegas, NV 89147 
 
Attorneys for Defendant, 
Darrell T. Coker   
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Case No. ______________________ 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that on December 30, 2016, I electronically filed the 

foregoing document with the Clerk of the Court using CM/ECF.  I further certify 

that a true and correct copy of the foregoing document being served via 

electronic mail and U.S. Mail to the attorneys listed below: 
 

Dominic P. Gentile 
GENTILE CRISTALLI MILLER ARMENI SAVARESE 
410 S. Rampart Blvd., Suite 420 
Las Vegas, NV 89145 
<dgentile@gcmaslaw.com> 
 
Dirk A. Ravenholt 
DEMPSEY, ROBERTS & SMITH, LTD. 
1130 Wigwam Parkway 
Henderson, NV 89074 
<CriminalDefenseAttorney@drsltd.com> 

 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 
 
Employee, 
Randazza Legal Group, PLLC 
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